

1 **Abstract**

2 To further comprehend the soil's biogeochemical processes, it is essential to
3 understand the interactions between the soil DOM (dissolved organic matter)
4 chemodiversity and the microbes habiting in it (soil).~~Understanding the dissolved~~
5 ~~organic matter (DOM) chemodiversity in soil and its interaction with microbes is~~
6 ~~crucial to comprehend the soil's biogeochemical processes. In this study, FT-ICR-~~
7 ~~MS (ultrahigh-resolution fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry~~
8 ~~(FT-ICR-MS)) was employed to in detail characterize the DOM chemodiversity at a~~
9 ~~molecular level. Based on four agro-ecological experimental sites, the variation of the~~
10 ~~DOM chemodiversity variation in from four agro-ecological experimental sites (paddy~~
11 ~~soils/fields) subjected to different long-term fertilizations across different distance-~~
12 ~~points was evaluated. Geographic distance had a greater impact on DOM~~
13 ~~chemodiversity than what anthropogenic fertilization had. Distance-decay analysis~~
14 ~~showed that the dissimilarity differences of in the DOM chemodiversity significantly~~
15 ~~increased with the increase in geographic distance. Long-term organic fertilizations~~
16 ~~homogenized the DOM chemodiversity of the soils as it madewith the lipid-like~~
17 ~~compounds in them becoming more similar regardless of geography. Combining high~~
18 ~~throughput sequencing and with FT-ICR-MS, we developed a network analysis to~~
19 ~~visualize the significant interactions between bacterial species and DOM molecules.~~
20 Our results showed that the bacterial community diversity dictates the soil's DOM
21 chemodiversity and not vice versa; ~~G~~ also, geographic distance indirectly affects the
22 soil's DOM chemodiversity by shaping the bacterial community habiting in it.

23

24 **Keywords:** dissolved organic matter; chemodiversity; bacterial community;

25 geographic distance; FT-ICR-MS

26 1. Introduction

27 Dissolved organic matter (DOM) is ~~ubiquitous-abundant~~ in all terrestrial ecosystems
28 and plays a vital role in soil's biogeochemical processes, most significantly, in carbon
29 cycle (Khan et al., 2013). Although soil DOM accounts for only a minor part of soil
30 organic matter (SOM), it is the most active and bioavailable organic 'pool' in soil. DOM
31 is of high geochemical and environmental importance for both soil and adjacent water
32 systems (Wu et al., 2020), especially in paddy fields. The concentration of DOM could
33 be easily ~~represented-enumerated~~ defined, however, ~~evaluating-the evaluation of~~ the
34 DOM's chemical composition remains a challenge due to its extreme heterogeneity.
35 Chemodiversity represents the material condition for life to emerge and exist (Testa et
36 al., 2009). Better characterization of DOM's chemical diversity could help us
37 understand the biogeochemical processes in soil. Thus, ~~grasping-understading~~ the DOM
38 chemodiversity ~~of DOM~~ has become a research 'hotspot' in the recent years (Lehmann
39 and Kleber, 2015; Roth et al., 2019; Zhrebker et al., 2020).

40 ~~A-R~~ recently advances in mass spectrometry and data analysis ~~method~~, i.e. ultrahigh-
41 resolution fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry (FT-ICR-MS),
42 ~~is-are~~ often employed to in detail characterize the DOM chemical composition at a
43 molecular level (Koch et al., 2007; Nebbioso and Piccolo, 2013). ~~For~~ Up to now, this
44 technique (FT-ICR-MS) is probably the most suitable approach to obtain detailed
45 molecular formulas for naturally complex and heterogeneous media/matter, such as
46 DOM. The approach has been successfully trialed to investigate the DOM
47 chemodiversity ~~in-from~~ marine and lake samples ~~abstracted-collected~~ from aquatic

48 environments (Kellerman et al., 2014; Kujawinski et al., 2016; Stegen et al., 2016; Zhao
49 et al., 2019). Studies focusing at soil DOM have also been ~~presented-recently carried~~
50 ~~out in recent years~~ (Ding et al., 2020; Li et al., 2019; Ohno et al., 2016; Roth et al.,
51 2019); however, the overall understanding ~~about-of~~ the chemodiversity of such
52 substrates ~~is-still~~remains limited, especially for systems exposed to a plethora of
53 anthropogenic activities (i.e. in paddy fields).

54 DOM is generated from root exudates and plant material leachates, and is typically
55 consumed by soil microbes. This is then transformed into microbial-derived
56 compounds which may contain intrinsically recalcitrant molecules (Roth et al., 2019).
57 On one hand, DOM acts as a major source of carbon and nutrients, especially for soil
58 microbial communities; on the other hand, soil microbial metabolites and residues act
59 as a major source for DOM. How microbes contribute to the formation and the
60 composition of DOM, and what their interactions are, are the two fundamental
61 questions related to soil carbon dynamics that remain ~~unclear~~unanswered. Until now,
62 there are only limited research studies that explore the link between the ~~variations-of~~
63 microbial ~~communities~~community variations and the changes in the soil's DOM
64 chemodiversity (Li et al., 2018b, 2019). ~~Similarly, to demonstrate~~unanswered remains
65 the question of whether or not that these two can be significantly correlated, as well as-
66 ~~However,~~ which of these two has a higher impact over the other, ~~is not yet clear~~.

67 Paddy fields are the largest anthropogenic wetlands on earth (Kögel-Knabner et al.,
68 2010). They play a vital role in global carbon cycle as they ~~were~~are identified as one
69 of the major ~~sources-of~~ greenhouse gases sources (Khan et al., 2013). Thus, studying

70 and understanding the DOM chemodiversity ~~of DOM~~ in paddy soils is crucial to further
71 comprehend ~~of~~ the soil's biogeochemical processes and subsequently the potential
72 carbon cycle implications. China has 30.3 Mha of paddy soil which is mainly
73 distributed among the subtropical zone of the country (Li et al., 2018b). The differently
74 long-term operated paddy fields in this area provide us with an ideal model to study the
75 spatial variation of DOM chemodiversity ~~in paddy soils~~. Previous work has showed
76 that geographic location ~~dominated~~ is a key influential factor towards the compositional
77 variation of the bacterial community, ~~which demonstrated~~ the community becomes less
78 ~~similarities~~ similar when geographic distance ~~increased~~ increases at a regional scale; ~~m.~~
79 Meanwhile fertilization ~~was found to~~ decreases the spatial variation of the bacterial
80 diversity in paddy soils (Chen et al., 2017). Whether the DOM chemodiversity displays
81 similar variation patterns is yet unknown. Based on the affinity between soil microbes
82 and DOM, we hypothesize that the chemodiversity of paddy soil DOM could show
83 similar spatial variation patterns and could also be significantly impacted by
84 anthropogenic farming practices. We also hypothesize that the soil DOM
85 chemodiversity ~~of soil DOM~~ is regulated by the developed microbial community. To
86 test these hypotheses, we ~~illustrate~~ focused on the detailed structural features of the
87 DOM (at a molecular level) ~~in~~ from paddy soils subjected to different long-term
88 fertilizations, and describe the corresponding chemodiversity variations across a
89 geographic distance. The relationship between DOM chemodiversity and soil microbial
90 community ~~is~~ was analyzed at molecule and species level respectively. How the
91 microbial community shapes the DOM chemodiversity ~~is~~ was also ~~reasoned~~ analysed

92 and discussed.

93 **2. Materials and Methods**

94 *2.1. Field experiment and soil sampling*

95 ~~The study's~~The experimental area-site is located in subtropical China and ~~contains~~
96 includes four agro-ecological experimental sub-sites (Changshu-CS, Jinxian-JX,
97 Wangcheng-WC, and Yingtan-YT) (Fig. S1). ~~Straight-line~~The distance between the
98 experimental sub-sites ~~is-ranges~~ between 400–1350 km. Detailed description of the
99 experimental sites is shown in Table S1 including mean annual temperature (MAT),
100 mean annual precipitation (MAP), location and climate information. Each site was
101 subjected to similar long-term fertilization treatments, among which, three typical
102 treatments were selected for investigation: i) CK (no fertilizers), ii) NPK (mineral
103 nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium fertilizers), and iii) OM (NPK fertilizers plus
104 organic amendments). Details about the treatments including fertilizer application rates
105 are also listed in Table S1.

106 A total of 36 samples were collected with three replicates for each treatment from
107 each site after rice harvest (4 sites × 3 treatments × 3 replicates). Five cores were taken
108 from the topsoil (0–15 cm) of each treatment replicate, and then ~~were~~ homogenized to
109 form one uniform soil sample. The uniformed samples were sieved (<2 mm) and were
110 separated into two sub-samples; one sub-sample was stored at -40 °C for DNA
111 extraction, another subsample was air-dried for analysis of chemical properties under
112 standard procedures (Carter and Gregorich, 2007; Lu, 1999). Soil pH was measured by

113 a pH meter (Mettler-Toledo, ZRH) using a 1:2.5 soil:water suspension. SOM content
114 was determined by the $K_2Cr_2O_7 + H_2SO_4$ oxidation method. Total and available
115 nitrogen (TN and AN) were quantified using Kjeldahl-N method and the alkali
116 hydrolysable method, respectively. Total phosphorus and potassium (TP and TK) were
117 measured by HF–HClO₄ digestion and determined by molybdenum blue colorimetric
118 and flame photometry respectively. Available phosphorus (AP) was determined by the
119 Olsen method. Available K (AK) was measured by NH₄OAC extraction. These
120 chemical properties are described in Table S2.

121 2.2. DOM extraction and FT-ICR-MS analysis

122 The DOM was extracted from the soil samples (10 g) using ultrapure water by using
123 a soil:water ratio to 1:10, ~~and the samples were~~ then shaken for 12 h in a horizontal
124 shaker at room temperature. The solutions were centrifuged at 2800g for 20 min and
125 filtered through a 0.45- μ m membrane filter. HPLC methanol (10 mL) and acidified
126 ultrapure water (10 mL, pH = 2) were passed through PPL cartridges (Agilent
127 Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) for clean-up. Then the DOM solution was loaded
128 on to the PPL cartridges via gravity. After that, the DOM was collected from the
129 cartridges using 10 mL of methanol (HPLC grade; Merck, Germany). The DOM elutes
130 were kept at -20 °C in dark prior an electrospray ionization Fourier transform ion
131 cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry (ESI FT-ICR MS) measurement.

132 Deuterated octadecanoic acid was added to the samples as an internal standard with
133 a dosage of 15 μ L (5×10^{-7} mol/L) per milliliter of sample. The ESI FT-ICR MS (Bruker,
134 Billerica, MA, USA) was equipped with a 9.4 T actively shielded superconducting

135 magnet interfaced with negative-ion mode electrospray ionization. Each sample was
136 injected into the ESI source at a speed of 180 $\mu\text{L/h}$ using a syringe pump. The
137 polarization voltage was 4.0 kV. The capillary column introduction and outlet voltage
138 were 4.5 kV and 320 V, respectively. Ions were accumulated in the hexapole for 0.001
139 s before being transferred to the ICR cell. The m/z range was 150–800 Da. A 4M word
140 size was selected for the time domain signal acquisition. The signal to noise ratio and
141 dynamic range were enhanced through accumulating 128 times domain FT-ICR
142 transients.

143 Data Analysis software (Bruker Daltonics version 4.2) was used to convert raw
144 spectra to a list of m/z values using FTMS peak picker (S/N threshold of 6; absolute
145 intensity threshold of 100). To reduce cumulative errors, all sample peaks from the
146 entire dataset were aligned to each other to eliminate possible mass shift. Molecular
147 formulas of mass peaks were calculated using a custom software. A van Krevelen
148 diagram was used to cross-plot oxygen to carbon (O/C, x-axis) and hydrogen to carbon
149 (H/C, y-axis) element ratio. The thousands of formulas plotted in the van Krevelen
150 diagram ~~could be were~~ categorized into the following groups based on O/C and H/C
151 ratios (Li et al., 2018b; Qiu et al., 2019): (1) lipid-like compounds (O/C: 0–0.3, H/C:
152 1.5–2.0), (2) protein/amino sugar-like compounds (O/C: 0.3–0.67, H/C: 1.5–2.2), (3)
153 carbohydrate-like compounds (O/C: 0.67–1.2, H/C: 1.5–2.4), (4) unsaturated
154 hydrocarbon compounds (O/C: 0–0.1, H/C: 0.7–1), (5) lignin-like compounds (O/C:
155 0.1–0.67, H/C: 0.7–1.5), (6) tannin-like compounds (O/C: 0.67–1.2, H/C: 0.5–1.5), (7)
156 condensed aromatic-like compounds (O/C: 0–0.67, H/C: 0.2–0.7), (8) others (the

157 compounds that do not belong to the above 7 groups). The peaks that were taken into
158 consideration for further analysis were those that ~~were~~ observed at least twice among
159 the 36 samples. The unsaturated hydrocarbon compounds were limited and not detected
160 in our samples; hence, our compounds were divided into seven groups and presented
161 on a van Krevelen diagram (Fig. 1).

162 2.3. Statistical Analysis

163 The chemodiversity of DOM was analyzed based on the differences between the
164 compounds (one molecular formula in FT-ICR-MS refer to one compound) in each
165 sample. The relative abundance (%) of the van Krevelen diagram-derived compounds'
166 groups, as per FT-ICR-MS analysis for the 36 soil samples is shown in Fig. S1.

167 Two-way permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) based on
168 Euclidean distance using 9999 permutations (Anderson, 2001) was used to ~~show~~
169 demonstrate the dissimilarity ~~of-between~~ molecular formulas ~~in-the-samples-among~~
170 from different fertilization treatments and experimental sites (Table 1). PERMANOVA
171 analysis was also conducted between any two fertilization treatments or any two
172 experimental sites. The rate of distance-decay (Deng et al., 2016) of the DOM
173 chemodiversity was calculated as per the slope of a linear least squares regression,
174 performed between molecular formulas similarity (calculated by the Euclidean distance)
175 and geographic distance. The geographic distance was calculated based on the
176 latitudinal and longitudinal coordinates (Table S1). The distance-decay plots were
177 conducted based on all compounds and based on each van Krevelen diagram-derived
178 compounds' group (Fig. 2). The significant difference of slopes between any two

179 treatments was tested via univariate linear regression analysis (Table S3).

180 Variable partitioning analysis (VPA) was applied to analyze the contribution of the
181 environmental ~~factors and~~, spatial factors, ~~and the~~ bacterial community and their
182 interactions on the variance of DOM chemodiversity. Spatial variables were derived
183 from Principal Coordinates of Neighbor Matrices (PCNM), ~~which was a method~~ able to
184 ~~deconvolute-deconstruct~~ total spatial variation into a discrete set of explanatory spatial
185 scales. Forward selection procedures were subsequently used to select the respective
186 subsets of the environmental and spatial variables. The forward selection was stopped
187 if the significance level ($P < 0.05$) was reached, or if no improvement of the selection
188 criterion (R^2) ~~was~~ observed after adding more variables. Then, the contributions of
189 selected subsets to the variance of DOM chemodiversity were calculated using the
190 ‘varpart’ function in R package ‘vegan’. The fractions of the explained variance are
191 based on adjusted fractions (R^2_{adj} , adjusted coefficient of multiple determination),
192 which accounts for the number of variables and sample sizes. The significance of each
193 component via partitioning was evaluated with a permutation test, except for the
194 interaction term and the residuals (these cannot be tested statistically). The proportional
195 contributions of the environmental factors, spatial factors, DOM chemodiversity, and
196 their interactions on bacterial community were also analyzed following the same
197 procedure.

198 The high-throughput sequencing results of the bacterial 16S rRNA genes have been
199 reported ~~in at~~ our previous work (Chen et al., 2017). In ~~this the current~~ work presented
200 here, we only use the operational taxonomic units (OTUs) of the gene sequences gained

201 from the long-term fertilization experiment ~~in~~of the four agro-ecological experimental
202 sites for further analysis. The specific links between DOM chemodiversity and relative
203 abundance of OTUs were revealed by network analysis. Pairwise correlations were
204 calculated using the ‘WGCNA’ package to determine the relationships between
205 individual DOM molecule and bacterial OTUs using Spearman’s correlations
206 (Langfelder and Horvath, 2008). A credible interaction was considered a robust
207 correlation between DOM chemodiversity and relative abundance of OTUs ~~with~~when
208 the Spearman’s correlation coefficients were above 0.8 and BH-corrected *P*-values
209 below 0.05. Networks were displayed with Spring Embedded Layout and yFiles
210 Organic Layout method and analyzed with network analyzer in Cytoscape.

211 3. Results

212 3.1. Difference in DOM chemodiversity

213 The unique molecular formulae ~~determined~~provided by the FT-ICR-MS were used
214 to evaluate the chemodiversity of DOM. ~~For~~From all 36 DOM samples, a core group
215 of 7,949 molecules, with a molecular mass ranging from 182 to 716 Da, had a molecular
216 formulae observed in at least two of the samples, ~~having a molecular mass ranging from~~
217 182 to 716 Da. A van Krevelen diagram (Fig. 1) was used to visualize the compounds
218 distribution. According to the van Krevelen diagram, carbohydrate-like (CH),
219 condensed aromatic-like (CA), lignin-like (LG), lipid-like (LP), protein/amino sugar-
220 like (PS), tannin-like (TN), others compounds (OT) were detected. For these, LG and
221 CA compounds were the most abundant molecules in the paddy soils DOM ~~originated~~

222 ~~from the long term cultivated paddy soils and~~ accounting for 38.5–46.8% and
223 17.6–25.9% of all assigned molecules respectively (Fig. S1). The relative abundance
224 of the DOM's biomolecular compound groups were found significantly different among
225 treatments (Fig. S1) (ANOSIM analysis: $R = 0.289$, $P < 0.001$).

226 A Venn plot (Fig. 2A) showed that CK, NPK and OM ~~shared had~~ 5,934 ~~compounds~~
227 from the overall 7,949 ~~DOM molecules~~ DOM compounds in common. Although the
228 DOM samples were originated from different sites, the majority of the compounds
229 detected ~~compounds~~ between them ~~was were~~ similar, observation that further supports
230 the similarity and the chemical stability of the DOM ~~in from~~ paddy soils. There were
231 relatively few unique compounds for each treatment, specifically 166, 155, and 105 for
232 CK, NPK, and OM, respectively. Although DOM similarities between soils were
233 evident (with regards stability in the chemical structure), further understanding of the
234 significant differences in the DOM chemodiversity among different treatments is
235 essential to further evaluate ~~the its~~ structure variation. The unique compounds in CK
236 were mainly CA ~~compounds~~, while in NPK the unique compounds were mainly LG
237 and TN (Fig. 2E-F). The unique compounds in OM were mainly concentrated in LG
238 (Fig. 2G), with almost no CA and TN, which is the main difference between OM and
239 CK/NPK treatments. Fig. 2B-D showed that CK and NPK ~~shared had~~ 88% of their total
240 molecules in common, ~~OM shared~~ 80% and 81% of the molecules ~~with between OM~~
241 and CK, and NPK were also similar respectively. That also meant that CK and NPK
242 were more similar with each other, while OM showed less similarity with CK and NPK.
243 OM also had fewer unique compounds as compared with CK and NPK (Fig. 2C-D).

244 3.2. Comparison of DOM chemodiversity across geographic distances

245 A PERMANOVA test was used to evaluate whether geographic location or
246 fertilization ~~exhibits~~ has a higher impact on DOM chemodiversity (Table 1). The global
247 test indicated that DOM chemodiversity showed significant dissimilarity ($P < 0.01$)
248 among fertilization treatments and experimental sites, with the latter having a greater
249 impact on the DOM chemodiversity (higher F value as compared to fertilization).
250 Pairwise comparison results showed that DOM chemodiversity was significantly
251 different for any two sites except for the comparison between WC and JX. DOM
252 chemodiversity also showed significant dissimilarity ($P < 0.01$) between organic
253 fertilization and other treatments (OM vs CK and OM vs NPK); while chemical
254 fertilization did not significantly ($P > 0.05$) changed the DOM chemodiversity as
255 compared to the ~~no-un-fertilization-fertilized~~ treatments (CK vs NPK).

256 A distance-decay analysis was used to study the spatial variation of the DOM
257 chemodiversity. The distance-decay plot (Fig. 3A) showed that the dissimilarity of the
258 DOM chemodiversity for all 36 samples significantly ($P < 0.001$, Table S3) increased
259 along with the increase ~~of~~ in geographic distance. Specially, the detected biomolecular
260 compound groups in all ~~the~~ samples showed the same tendency except for ~~the~~-OT
261 ~~compounds~~ (Fig. 3B-H, Table S3), in which LG compounds ~~showed~~ demonstrated a
262 bigger distance-decay slope than any other compound groups (Table S3).

263 The distance-decay analysis indicated that geographic location significantly affected
264 the DOM chemodiversity, while anthropogenic fertilization also had a great impact to
265 it. In each fertilization treatment, the entire DOM chemodiversity ~~was found~~

266 significantly increased with the increase in geographic distance (Fig. 3A). The distance-
267 decay slope was 0.005 for the OM treatment (Table S3), significantly smoother than
268 that of the CK (0.013) and NPK (0.012) treatments, while the slopes of CK and NPK
269 were ~~in-at~~ the same level ($P > 0.05$). At different treatments, biomolecular compound
270 groups varied with geographic distance. For CK treatment, the chemodiversity
271 dissimilarities of CA, LG, LP, PS, and TN compounds significantly ($P < 0.05$, Table S3)
272 increased with geographic distance. For NPK treatment, the chemodiversity
273 dissimilarities of CH, LG, LP, and PS compounds significantly increased with
274 geographic distance. For OM treatment, the chemodiversity dissimilarities of LG, PS,
275 and OT compounds significantly increased with geographic distance. From the plots
276 (Fig. 3B-H), it is indicated that distance-decay slopes for CA, LG, LP, and TN
277 compounds at the OM treatment were significantly flattened as compared ~~with-to~~ CK.
278 The distance-decay slopes of the LP and OT compounds ~~of-from~~ the OM treatment
279 were significantly flattened as compared with NPK (Table S3). In OM treatment,
280 chemodiversity of LP compounds did not significantly change with geographic distance,
281 ~~and-but~~ significantly differed ~~from-that~~ in CK and NPK treatments due to that.

282 3.3. Co-variation between bacterial community and DOM chemodiversity

283 As per the ~~inherentintrinsic~~ association ~~link~~ between soil microbes and DOM
284 heterogeneity, we believe the variation of DOM chemodiversity is ~~associated-linked~~
285 with the bacterial community. This assumption was confirmed by spearman's analysis,
286 which highlighted that the dissimilarity between DOM molecules and microbial
287 communities between samples ~~were-was~~ significantly correlated ($r = 0.297$, $P < 0.001$).

288 The mutual contributions between DOM chemodiversity and the bacterial community
289 diversity were further explored using variable partitioning analysis (VPA). VPA results
290 suggested that the bacterial community imposes a considerable factor (17.1%) affecting
291 DOM chemodiversity ($P < 0.01$), while environmental factors and geographical
292 location could not significantly affect it (Fig. 4a). The interaction between bacterial
293 community and geographical location also explains, at a considerable degree (14.7%),
294 the DOM chemodiversity. On the contrary, environmental factors and geographical
295 location significantly affected ($P < 0.05$) the bacterial community variation (Fig. 4b),
296 while the DOM chemodiversity could not itself shape the community (1.1%, $P > 0.05$).
297 The combined effect of ~~the~~ factors like the environmental conditions, the geographical
298 location, and the DOM chemodiversity had a large impact (67.3%) on the bacterial
299 community variation.

300 The link between DOM chemodiversity and bacterial community was further
301 explored using co-occurrence network analysis. The results revealed a significant
302 association between DOM molecules and specific taxa. Direct connections were made
303 from the selected square nodes (OTUs) to the selected circle nodes (molecule) as edges
304 in the networks (Fig. 5). The strong positive ($r \geq 0.8$) and negative correlations ($r \leq -0.8$)
305 were defined as the positive and negative networks respectively. A total of 3016 nodes
306 and 6978 edges formed the positive networks (Fig. 5A-H), while for only 19 nodes and
307 15 edges the negative networks there were compiled the negative ones only 19 nodes
308 and 15 edges (Fig. 5I). The small subnetworks, which were hard to define as OTU-
309 central or molecule-central, and which contained less than six total nodes were not

310 shown in the figure. The positive networks consisted of complex networks that could
311 be divided into 8 subnetworks, from which ~~there was one~~ was considered exceptionally
312 large and complex ~~subnetwork~~ with 2521 nodes and 6539 edges (Fig. 5A); ~~and other~~
313 seven less complex ones were detected (Fig. 5B-D). In the positive network, among the
314 top ten nodes in connection number, eight were OTU-central and only two were
315 molecule-central. The negative networks were much simpler, with only one OTU
316 (Acidobacteria) displaying bearing multiple links with 11 molecules, which refer to LG,
317 LP, and PS groups (Fig. 5E). This indicates that these species may mainly utilize these
318 three kinds of compound groups.

319 The 1000 most abundant OTUs and the 1000 most abundant DOM molecules in each
320 fertilization treatment were selected for network analysis. The results showed that
321 OTUs and DOM molecules were significantly connected in each treatment, indicating
322 the strong soil bacteria-DOM interactions (Fig. S2). A total of 114 nodes and 442 edges
323 formed the networks in CK treatment; ~~There were~~ 138 nodes and 673 edges forming
324 formed the networks in NPK treatment; ~~While while~~ in OM treatment, the networks
325 contained only 50 nodes and 115 edges. That meant that the bacteria-DOM interaction
326 was stronger in CK and NPK than that for the OM treatment.

327 **4. Discussion**

328 *4.1. The variation of DOM chemodiversity among different fertilization treatments*

329 Among the molecular formulas gained from the FT-ICR-MS, LG and CA
330 compounds ($H/C < 1.5$) ~~are appeared to be the~~ two predominant compounds, both
331 typically recalcitrant ~~components~~ (Li et al., 2019). The consistent predominance of

332 these two ~~compound~~-groups at all samples indicates the chemical stability of the DOM
333 at ~~such-all~~ operational conditions. Lignin is ~~the~~ main ~~chemical-raw material-matter for~~
334 ~~in the~~ DOM ~~in-originated from~~ paddy soils, known for its limited biodegradability. The
335 persistent to degradation nature of lignin-based products obviously allowed its
336 accumulation and subsequently provided ~~had with~~-a stronger 'signal' during the test.
337 Hence, LG compounds accounted for the maximum proportion among all assigned
338 molecules (Fig. S1). Although the ~~DOM-samples~~ were ~~originated~~ from different sites,
339 ~~different fertilization treatments had~~ 75% of the detected DOM molecules ~~was present in~~
340 ~~common at all treatments~~, observation that also ~~indicated-indicates~~ the ~~similarity and~~
341 chemical stability of the DOM in paddy soils. Although the unique molecules, ~~among~~
342 ~~different treatments~~ were relatively ~~less low in absolute numbers~~, they ~~contributed-were~~
343 ~~adequate to significantly differentiate to the significant differences of~~ the relative
344 abundance of ~~the~~ DOM's biomolecular compound groups ~~among different treatments~~.
345 The unique compounds ~~found~~ in OM treatment were ~~concentrated-mainly related to~~
346 ~~the~~ LG group, ~~which then dictated the fact directly linked to the dissimilarity~~
347 ~~differences~~ of the DOM chemodiversity between OM ~~treatment~~ and other treatments.
348 In OM treatment, the unique LG compounds may ~~be~~-derive from ~~the extra-excess of~~
349 organic substances, such as straw, ~~providing withed~~ more ligin materials.

350 The distance-decay analysis showed that the DOM chemodiversity ~~was~~-significantly
351 increased along with the increase in geographic distance. LG compounds demonstrated
352 greater variability with geographical distance as compared to CA, CH, LP, PS, TN, and
353 OT compounds. In the meantime, LG ~~compounds~~-accounted for the maximum

354 proportion of all the compounds, hence, LG imposed the greatest contribution to the
355 spatial variability of the overall DOM. In each fertilization treatment, the entire DOM
356 chemodiversity was also significantly increased along with an increase in geographic
357 distance ~~increase~~. However, the compound groups that significantly changed with
358 spatial variation in each treatment were different; ~~indicating this indicates~~ the
359 significant effects of the anthropogenic fertilization (with geographic location also
360 having a great impact). Our observations ~~indicated~~ highlights that long-term organic
361 fertilizations ~~resulted~~ in the homogenization of DOM chemodiversity in paddy soils
362 across geographic distance on an LP ~~compounds~~ presence basis. Many of the LP
363 compounds derived from bacteria (Zou et al., 2004), for example, the phospholipids in
364 bacterial cell membrane can contribute to the LP compounds. Thus, we
365 ~~deduced~~ presumed that long-term organic fertilizations in paddy soils firstly
366 homogenize the bacterial community across geographic distance (Chen et al., 2017),
367 making the bacterial l-derived LP compounds more similar, ~~and this way drives~~ resulting
368 to the homogenization of the DOM chemodiversity. In summary, LG compounds
369 mainly dictated the distance-decay pattern of the DOM chemodiversity, whilst LP
370 compounds contributed to the difference ~~of~~ in the pattern among different fertilization
371 treatments.

372 4.2. Co-variation between bacterial community and DOM chemodiversity

373 Co-occurrence network analysis showed that DOM chemodiversity and bacterial
374 community were significantly correlated, finding consistent with previous research (Li
375 et al., 2019). More interestingly, VPA analysis indicated that the DOM chemodiversity

376 variation at a regional scale was best explained by the developed bacterial community
377 but not vice versa. In a similar research, paddy soils were sampled at the tillering phase
378 of rice plants, concluding that the variance in the microbial community and the variance
379 in DOM composition were best explained by each other (Li et al., 2018a). At a tillering
380 sampling scenario, both the DOM and the soil microbial community change rapidly due
381 to the root exudates present that contribute to the DOM, and thus, significantly affect
382 the microbial community (the reverse is also likely as microbes metabolize organics to
383 stand for DOM). On the contrary we decided to sample the paddy soils after the harvest.
384 No root exudates or other organics could directly contribute to the DOM, and the latter
385 was at a stable phase, unlikely to significantly change the microbial community. In this
386 way we excluded a ~~key fundamental~~ experimental bias. On the other hand, ~~the~~ microbial
387 metabolic processes ~~that related to the consumption~~, ~~transformation~~, ~~and the~~ ~~of~~
388 ~~production of different various~~ DOM molecules, mainly contributed to the DOM
389 turnover. A previous study has shown that the chemical diversity of SOM was mainly
390 driven by distinct microbial communities rather than by the substrates utilized by the
391 microbes (Kallenbach et al., 2016), ~~which finding that~~ also supports the current study's
392 VPA analysis.

393 The ecological theory "*diversity begets diversity*" is commonly used ~~in terms~~ quote
394 ~~of in~~ biodiversity (Palmer and Maurer, 1997). Tanentzap et al. (2019) extends the theory
395 stating that greater microbial diversity results to greater DOM chemodiversity, and
396 greater DOM chemodiversity provides with more opportunities for the microbes to
397 coexist. The diversity used on the above study was an α -diversity of DOM molecules

398 and microbes (Tanentzap et al., 2019); thus, it was found that chemodiversity begets
399 biodiversity and vice versa, but at α -diversity level only (samples originated from a
400 natural freshwater ecosystem). At β -diversity level (explored in the current study), we
401 found that a greater bacterial community diversity leads to greater DOM
402 chemodiversity (in a paddy field ecosystem), finding also in line with the “*diversity*
403 *begets diversity*” theory. Differently, Tanentzap et al. found that DOM had a stronger
404 effect on microbes than vice versa (Tanentzap et al., 2019), while we found that DOM
405 chemodiversity could not significantly shape the bacterial diversity. The reason may be
406 that the influential factors at Tanentzap’s study were less in absolute number as
407 compared to those in this study. Hence, with DOM being the main carbon source for
408 microbes it is expected that DOM would influence the microbial community (in two
409 small shallow lakes) (Tanentzap et al., 2019). At our study, the influential factors for
410 the bacterial community were much more complex and DOM was not the only carbon
411 substrate for the bacteria. Thus, we shout that DOM chemodiversity alone cannot
412 significantly shape the bacterial community. On the contrary, the bacterial metabolites
413 and their own residues can also become the main sources of DOM in a long-term
414 fertilized paddy soils. Thus, DOM chemodiversity was mainly affected by the bacterial
415 community and ~~their—its~~ metabolic by-products. Logue et al. (2016) also
416 ~~referred~~mentioned that more diverse microbial communities could decompose complex
417 organic matter easier and provide with a ~~varying-larger variation type~~ of DOM.

418 In the distance-decay analysis, the geographical location represents the different
419 ~~circumstances~~conditions of the DOM samples, thus, ~~the~~ geographical ~~al~~ location can

420 dictates the variation of DOM chemodiversity. ~~While i~~In the VPA analysis, the
421 geographical location only refers to the latitude and longitude excluding both
422 environmental and biotic factors, ~~and does unabled~~to significantly affect the DOM
423 chemodiversity. Combining these two analyses, the results indicated that geographical
424 location could directly affect the bacterial community, and thus, indirectly affect DOM
425 chemodiversity. In the molecule-central networks, OTUs are assumed to be “specialists”
426 when related to limited DOM compounds (Zhao et al., 2019); while OTUs with broader
427 and multiple connections with compounds in the network are considered as “generalists”
428 (can produce and/or consume multiple DOM molecules in positive or negative
429 networks). Our study showed that the positive networks were far more than the negative
430 ones, and the OTU-central nodes were more than the DOM molecule-central ones
431 (among those with more connections in the positive networks (Fig. 5A)). This indicates
432 that at paddy field environments, especially after harvesting, the contribution of bacteria
433 to DOM is greater than their DOM consuming habits. That is also consistent with the
434 VPA observation, where bacteria contributed more to DOM than vice versa.

435 Our previous study has shown that the spatial variation in the bacterial community
436 was the greatest under CK treatment (Chen et al., 2017); in this ~~study~~study, we
437 evaluated a stronger bacteria–DOM interaction in CK. Thus, the spatial variation of
438 DOM chemodiversity in CK treatment is the greatest in the current study. The spatial
439 variation of the bacterial community under the NPK treatment was greater than that for
440 OM treatment (Chen et al., 2017), and the bacteria–DOM interaction was also stronger
441 in NPK than for OM. Thus, the spatial variation of DOM chemodiversity in NPK

442 treatment ~~was could be~~ also greater than ~~that for OM treatment~~ the ON one. This
443 ~~concludes-highlights~~ that the minimum spatial variation ~~of in~~ DOM chemodiversity was
444 ~~at-observed at~~ OM treatment. More specifically, ~~anthropogenic~~ organic fertilization
445 decreases the variation of the dissolved organic matter chemodiversity in paddy soils
446 by homogenizing the bacterial community composition.

447 **5. Conclusions**

448 This study shows that ~~the paddy soil~~ DOM chemodiversity from paddy soil exhibits
449 both stability and variation in different aspects. The stability refers to the presence of
450 similar molecules ~~between-among samples from~~ different sites (DOM samples). The
451 differences/variation in DOM chemodiversity is mainly attributed to geographic
452 distance at a regional scale, whilst anthropogenic organic fertilizations could
453 significantly homogenize the DOM chemodiversity by providing with alike LP
454 compounds. DOM chemodiversity and bacteria community were significantly
455 correlated, geographic distance ~~—~~ indirectly affected the DOM chemodiversity by
456 shaping the bacterial community. The homogenization of the DOM chemodiversity was
457 dictated by the homogenization of the bacterial community composition, ~~that was the~~
458 latter (community composition) was directly affected by long-term anthropogenic
459 organic fertilization.

460 **Acknowledgments**

461 This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant
462 number 41430859), National Key Research and Development Program of China (grant
463 number 2016YFD0200309), Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province (grant

464 number BK20181510).

465 **Declaration of Competing Interest**

466 The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

467 **Appendix A. Supplementary material**

468 The Supporting Information including additional tables and figures discussed in the
469 main text is available at...

470 **References**

471 Anderson, M.J., 2001. A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of
472 variance. *Austral. Ecol.* 26, 32–46.

473 Carter, M.R., 2007. Gregorich, E. G. *Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis*, 2nd ed.;
474 CRC Press.

475 Chen, R.R., Zhong, L.H., Jing, Z.W., Guo, Z.Y., Li, Z.P., Lin, X.G., Feng, Y.Z., 2017.
476 Fertilization decreases compositional variation of paddy bacterial community
477 across geographical gradient. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 114, 181–188.

478 Deng, Y., He, Z.L., Xiong, J.B., Yu, H., Xu, M.Y., Hobbie, S.E., Reich, P.B., Schadt,
479 C.W., Kent, A., Pendall, E., 2016. Elevated carbon dioxide accelerates the spatial
480 turnover of soil microbial communities. *GCB Bioenergy* 22, 957–964.

481 Ding, Y., Shi, Z.Q., Ye, Q.T., Liang, Y.Z., Liu, M.Q., Dang, Z., Wang, Y.J., Liu, C.X.,
482 2020. Chemodiversity of soil dissolved organic matter. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 54,
483 6174–6184.

484 Kallenbach, C.M., Frey, S.D., Grandy, A.S., 2016. Direct evidence for microbial-
485 derived soil organic matter formation and its ecophysiological controls. *Nat.*

486 Commun. 7, 13630.

487 Kellerman, A.M., Dittmar, T., Kothawala, D.N., Tranvik, L.J. Chemodiversity of
488 dissolved organic matter in lakes driven by climate and hydrology. Nat. Commun.
489 5, 3804.

490 Khan, S., Chao, C., Waqas, M., Arp, H.P., Zhu, Y.G., 2013. Sewage sludge biochar
491 influence upon rice (*Oryza sativa* L) yield, metal bioaccumulation and greenhouse
492 gas emissions from acidic paddy soil. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 8624–8632.

493 Koch B.P., Dittmar, T., Witt, M., Kattner, G., 2007. Fundamentals of molecular formula
494 assignment to ultrahigh resolution mass data of natural organic matter. Anal. Chem.
495 79, 1758–1763.

496 Kögel-Knabner, I., Amelung, W., Cao, Z.H., Fiedler, S., Frenzel, P., Jahn, R., Kalbitz,
497 K., Kölbl, A., Schloter, M. Biogeochemistry of paddy soils. Geoderma 157, 1–14.

498 Kujawinski, E.B., Longnecker, K., Barott, K.L., Weber, R.J.M., 2016. Soule MCK.
499 Microbial community structure affects marine dissolved organic matter
500 composition. Front. Mar Sci. 3, 45.

501 Langfelder, P., Horvath, S., 2008. WGCNA: an R package for weighted correlation
502 network analysis. BMC Bioinformatics 9, 559.

503 Lehmann, J., Kleber M., 2015. The contentious nature of soil organic matter. Nature
504 528, 60–68.

505 Li, H.Y., Wang, H., Wang, H.T., Xin, P.Y., Xu, X.H., Ma, Y., Liu, W.P., Teng, C.Y., Jiang,
506 C.L., Lou, L.P., Arnold, W., Cralle, L., Zhu, Y.G., Chu, J.F., Gilbert, J.A., Zhang,
507 Z.J., 2018a. The chemodiversity of paddy soil dissolved organic matter correlates

508 with microbial community at continental scales. *Microbiome* 6, 187.

509 Li, X.M., Chen, Q.L., He, C., Shi, Q., Chen, S.C., Reid, B.J., Zhu, Y.G., Sun, G.X.,
510 2019. Organic Carbon Amendments Affect the Chemodiversity of Soil Dissolved
511 Organic Matter and Its Associations with Soil Microbial Communities. *Environ.*
512 *Sci. Technol.* 53, 50–59.

513 Li, X.M., Sun, G.X., Chen, S.C., Fang, Z., Yuan, H.Y., Shi, Q., Zhu, Y.G., 2018b.
514 Molecular Chemodiversity of Dissolved Organic Matter in Paddy Soils. *Environ.*
515 *Sci. Technol.* 52, 963–971.

516 Logue, J.B., Stedmon, C.A., Kellerman, A.M., Nielsen, N.J., Andersson, A.F., Laudon,
517 H., Lindström, E.S., Kritzberg, E.S., 2016. Experimental insights into the
518 importance of aquatic bacterial community composition to the degradation of
519 dissolved organic matter. *ISME J.* 10, 533–545.

520 Lu, R.K., 1999. Analytical methods of soil and agricultural chemistry. China
521 Agricultural Science and Technology Press, Beijing.

522 Nebbioso, A., Piccolo, A., 2013. Molecular characterization of dissolved organic matter
523 (DOM): a critical review. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 405, 109–124.

524 Ohno, T., Sleighter, R.L., Hatcher, P.G., 2016. Comparative study of organic matter
525 chemical characterization using negative and positive mode electrospray
526 ionization ultrahigh-resolution mass spectrometry. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 408,
527 2497.

528 Palmer, M.W., Maurer, T.A., 1997. Does diversity beget diversity? A case study of crops
529 and weeds. *J. Veg. Sci.* 8, 235–240.

530 Qiu, C.P., Feng, Y.Z., Wu, M., Liu, M., Li, W.T., Li, Z.P., 2019. NanoFe₃O₄ accelerates
531 methanogenic straw degradation by improving energy metabolism. *Bioresource*
532 *Technol.* 292, 121930.

533 Roth, V.N., Lange, M., Simon, C., Hertkorn, N., Bucher, S., Goodall, T., Griffiths, R.I.,
534 Mellado-Vázquez, P.G., Mommer, L., Oram, N.J., Weigelt, A., Dittmar, T.,
535 Gleixner, G., 2019. Persistence of dissolved organic matter explained by molecular
536 changes during its passage through soil. *Nat. Geosci.* 12, 755–761.

537 Stegen, J.C., Fredrickson, J.K., Wilkins, M.J., Konopka, A.E., Nelson, W.C., Arntzen,
538 E.V., Chrisler, W.B., Chu, R.K., Danczak, R.E., Fansler, S.J., Kennedy, D.W.,
539 Resch, C.T., Tfaily, M., 2016. Groundwater-surface water mixing shifts ecological
540 assembly processes and stimulates organic carbon turnover. *Nat. Commun.* 7,
541 11237.

542 Tanentzap, A.J., Fitch, A., Orland, C., Emilson, E.J.S., Yakimovich, K.M., Osterholz,
543 H., Dittmar, T., 2019. Chemical and microbial diversity covary in fresh water to
544 influence ecosystem functioning. *P. NATL. ACAD. SCI. USA* 116, 24689–24695.

545 Testa, B., Vistoli, G., Pedretti, A., Bojarski, A.J., 2009. Atomic diversity, molecular
546 diversity, and chemical diversity: the concept of chemodiversity. *Chem. Biodivers.*
547 6, 1145–1151.

548 W, Q.Y., Zhou, T.H., Du, Y., Ye, B., Wang, W.L., Hu, H.Y., 2020. Characterizing the
549 molecular weight distribution of dissolved organic matter by measuring the
550 contents of electron-donating moieties, UV absorbance, and fluorescence intensity.
551 *Environ. Int.* 137, 105570.

552 Zhao, Z., Gonsior, M., Schmitt-Kopplin, P., Zhan, Y., Zhang, R., Jiao, N., Chen, F.,
553 2019. Microbial transformation of virus-induced dissolved organic matter from
554 picocyanobacteria: coupling of bacterial diversity and DOM chemodiversity.
555 ISME J. 13, 2551–2565.

556 Zherebker, A., Shirshin, E., Rubekina, A., Kharybin, O., Kononikhin, A., Kulikova, N.
557 A., Zaitsev, K.V., Roznyatovsky, V.A., Grishin, Y.K., Perminova, I.V., Nikolaev,
558 E.N., 2020. Optical properties of soil dissolved organic matter are related to acidic
559 functions of its components as revealed by fractionation, selective
560 deuteromethylation, and ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometry. Environ. Sci.
561 Technol. 54, 2667–2677.

562 Zou, L., Wang, X.C., Callahan, J., Culp, R.A., Chen, R.F., Altabet, M.A., Sun, M.Y.,
563 2004. Bacterial roles in the formation of high-molecular-weight dissolved organic
564 matter in estuarine and coastal waters: Evidence from lipids and the compound
565 specific isotopic ratios. Limnol. Oceanogr. 49, 297–302.

566
567

568 **Table 1** PERMANOVA test based on the DOM chemodiversity among three fertilization practices
 569 and among four experimental sites.

	Global Test		Pairwise Comparison		
	<i>F</i>	<i>P</i>		<i>F</i>	<i>P</i>
Fertilization treatment	1.791	0.007	CK vs NPK	0.689	0.699
			CK vs OM	3.149	0.007
			NPK vs OM	2.000	0.041
Experimental site	3.275	0.001	WC vs YT	4.486	0.001
			WC vs CS	4.847	0.006
			WC vs JX	1.371	0.082
			YT vs CS	8.268	0.001
			YT vs JX	3.794	0.001
			CS vs JX	5.113	0.002

570 The global test was conducted with two-way PERMANOVA and the pairwise comparison was
 571 conducted with one-way PERMANOVA.
 572

573 **Figure captions**

574 **Fig. 1.** van Krevelen diagrams from the FT-ICR-MS spectra of DOM. Dotted boxes overlain on the
575 plot refer to the major biomolecular compound groups: carbohydrates, condensed aromatic, lignins,
576 lipids, proteins/amino sugars, tannins, and others (the compounds not belonging to the above 6
577 groups). Darker color indicates a higher molecular density, which means higher occurrence
578 frequency of molecular formulas in specific area of the diagram.

579 **Fig. 2.** Venn analysis of the molecular formulas among the three treatments CK, NPK, and OM (**A**),
580 between CK and NPK (**B**), CK and OM (**C**), between NPK and OM (**D**) in four sites. **E-G** are the
581 van Krevelen diagrams of unique compounds in CK, NPK, and OM, respectively. Density indicates
582 the occurrence frequency of molecular formulas in specific area of the diagrams.

583 **Fig. 3.** Distance-decay curves of DOM chemodiversity based on all compounds (**A**) and seven
584 biomolecular compound groups (**B-H**, carbohydrates, condensed aromatics, lignins, lipids,
585 protein/amino sugar, tannins, and others, respectively) under three fertilization practices within and
586 among four experimental sites. The y-axis is DOM composition dissimilarity calculated using Bray-
587 Curtis distance of molecular formulas in all compounds and seven compound groups. X-axis is
588 geographic distance in kilometer. Different colours refer to different treatments, Blue: CK, Green:
589 NPK, Purple: OM, Red: including all the three treatments.

590 **Fig. 4.** Variable partitioning analysis (VPA) was applied to analyze the effects of environmental
591 factors (E), geographical location (G) and bacterial community (B) and their interactions on the
592 variance of DOM chemodiversity (a) and the effects of (E), (G), and DOM chemodiversity (D) on
593 the variance of bacterial community (b) based all the samples.

594 **Fig. 5.** Network plots showing the association between DOM formulaes and bacterial species in all

595 the samples. Compound groups and bacterial species are shown in circle nodes and square nodes,
596 respectively. Different classes are labeled with different colors. Direct connections are made between
597 DOM formulae and OTUs when the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient is strong $r \geq 0.8$
598 (Positive network, **A-D**) and $r \leq -0.8$ (Negative network, **E**), with $P < 0.05$. Size of the nodes are
599 proportional to the number of connections.
600